IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2010-IA-00776-SCT

TI

MISSISSIPPI CRIME LABORATORY, MISSISSIPPI STATE MEDICAL EXAMINERS, DR. STEVEN HAYNE, IN HIS OFFICIAL AND PERSONAL CAPACITIES, SUNSHINE MEDICAL CLINIC, DR. VIBHA VIG, IN HER OFFICIAL AND PERSONAL CAPACITIES, LISA HOEHN, M.D./NURSE PRACTITIONER, IN HER OFFICIAL AND PERSONAL CAPACITIES, EXPERTOX, INC., AND MEDSCREENS, INC.

DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

 \mathbf{V}_{\bullet}

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

I. Whether the circuit court abused its discretion in denying the Medical Negligence Defendants' Motion to Sever and Transfer Venue.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Sunshine Medical Clinic and Dr. Vibha Vig request oral argument to explicate the factual and legal issues presented by this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Circuit Court

This is an interlocutory appeal from the denial of a motion to sever and transfer venue. In the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Plaintiffs Hattie Douglas and Kevin Hamlin filed a Complaint against Sunshine Medical Clinic, Dr. Vibha Vig, and nurse practitioner Lisa Hoehn (collectively "Medical Negligence Defendants"), alleging those Defendants' acts and omissions in rendering medical treatment to their minor son, Kaddarius Douglas, caused his death. In the same pleading, Plaintiffs also brought claims against the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, the Mississippi State Medical Examiner's Office, Dr. Steven Hayne, Expertox, Inc., and MedScreens, Inc. (collectively "Wrongful Incarceration Defendants"), asserting those Defendants' acts and omissions in performing a post-mortem examination and toxicological tests on Kaddarius's body, as well as in storing and handling blood and urine specimens, caused Hattie Douglas to be wrongfully incarcerated for murdering Kaddarius.

¹ Both Plaintiffs sue in their capacities as the natural parents and next friends of Kaddarius Douglas. (R. 10; R. Exc. Tab 3.) Ms. Douglas also sues in both her individual capacity and as the wrongful death beneficiary representative of Kaddarius Douglas. (R. 10; R. Exc. Tab 3.) In addition, Mr. Hamlin sues as next friend of Kaddarius's five minor siblings. (R. 10; R. Exc. Tab 3.)

All Defendants moved to sever the claims against the Medical Negligence Defendants from those against the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants and to transfer venue from Hinds County to Madison County (for the Medical Negligence Defendants) and Rankin County (for the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants).² (R. 196, 224, 229, 232, 238.) The circuit court summarily denied the motions. (R. 347; R. Exc. Tab 2.) All Defendants then joined in a Joint Petition for Interlocutory Appeal by Permission, which this Court granted. (R. 408–09.)

II. Statement of Facts

As to the Medical Negligence Defendants, Plaintiffs allege that Kaddarius was taken to the Sunshine Medical Clinic in Canton, Mississippi, on three occasions for treatment of severe respiratory problems. (R. 12 at ¶7; 14 at ¶¶16–18; R. Exc. Tab 3.) Nurse practitioner Lisa Hoehn treated Kaddarius on the first two visits (October 15 and December 17, 2005), and Dr. Vibha Vig treated him on the third (May 8, 2006). (R. 14 at ¶¶16–18; R. Exc. Tab 3.) Plaintiffs claim that the acts and omissions of Sunshine Medical Clinic, Dr. Vig, and Hoehn caused Kaddarius's death on May 11, 2006. (R. 14 at ¶19; 16 at ¶32; R. Exc. Tab 3.) They present several tort claims, including ones for medical negligence and negligent hiring and supervision, against the Medical Negligence Defendants based on those alleged acts and omissions and seek recovery of various damages. (R. 18–24; R. Exc. Tab 3.)

Regarding the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants, Plaintiffs allege that Dr. Steven Hayne performed an autopsy on Kaddarius's body, during which blood and urine samples were collected. (R. 14 at ¶20; R. Exc. Tab 3.) According to Dr. Hayne's affidavit, he was the Designated State Pathologist when he performed those actions at the Rankin County Morgue in Pearl, Mississippi.

² In their Motion to Transfer Venue and Sever, Defendants Sunshine Medical Clinic and Dr. Vig entered a special appearance in order to preserve various defenses, including insufficient service of process. (R. 238.)

(R. 222 at ¶¶1-3; R. Exc. Tab 4.) The blood and urine samples were sent under chain of custody to MedScreens, Inc., which is located in Flowood, Mississippi. (R. 12 at ¶6; 15 at ¶21; 222 at ¶3; R. Exc. Tabs 3 & 4.) MedScreens forwarded the samples to Expertox, Inc. in Texas under chain of custody. (R. 12 at \$\frac{1}{5}\$; 15 at \$\frac{1}{22}\$; 228 at \$\frac{1}{4}\$; R. Exc. Tabs 3 & 5.) After testing the specimens, Expertox's initial report indicated a blood-alcohol content reading of 0.02g%. (R. 15 at ¶24; R. Exc. Tab 3.) Following additional testing, Expertox revised the blood-alcohol content reading to 0.04g% and reported a urine reading of 0.4g%. (R. 15 at \$25; R. Exc. Tab 3.) According to the affidavit of Earnest Lykissa, Ph.D., an employee of Expertox, Expertox sent those reports to MedScreens. (R. 228 at ¶¶1-2, 5; R. Exc. Tab 5.) MedScreens forwarded the reports to Dr. Hayne. (R. 223 at ¶6; R. Exc. Tab 4.) Dr. Hayne reviewed the reports in his Brandon, Mississippi, office and prepared his final autopsy report there. (R. 223 at ¶6; R. Exc. Tab 4.) No portion of the post-mortem examination, toxicological analysis, or preparation of the autopsy report occurred in Hinds County, Mississippi. (R. 223 at ¶7; R. Exc. Tab 4.) Rather, all aspects of Dr. Hayne's involvement, as well as all other employees of the Mississippi Crime Laboratory and the Mississippi State Medical Examiner's Office, occurred in Rankin County, Mississippi. (R. 223 at \(\)8; R. Exc. Tab 4.)

Based on the toxicology reports, Plaintiffs say, Hattie Douglas was arrested and charged with Kaddarius's murder. (R. 16 at ¶27–28; R. Exc. Tab 3.) Her five children were then removed from her custody by the Mississippi Department of Human Services. (R. 16 at ¶30; R. Exc. Tab 3.) After being incarcerated for more than a year and a half, the murder charge against Ms. Douglas was nolle prossed. (R. 16 at ¶31; R. Exc. Tab 3.) Plaintiffs claim the acts and omissions of the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, Mississippi State Medical Examiner's Office, Expertox, MedScreens, and Dr. Hayne (in both his official and personal capacities) in performing the post-mortem examination, conducting toxicological tests, and storing and handling specimens caused Ms. Douglas to be

wrongfully incarcerated, to have her children removed from her custody, and them to experience pain, embarrassment, and public ridicule. (R. 14–16 at ¶20–22, 25–26, 28; 17–18 at ¶36–39; R. Exc. Tab 3.) Plaintiffs assert several tort claims against the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants based on those alleged wrongs and request sundry damages. (R. 18, 21–24; R. Exc. Tab 3.)

Plaintiffs claim venue is proper against all Defendants in the Circuit Court of Hinds County under Mississippi Code Annotated section 11-11-3 because the principal places of business of the Mississippi Crime Laboratory and the Mississippi State Medical Examiner's Office are located in Hinds County, and because the "incident in question occurred in whole or in part in Hinds County, Mississippi." (R. 13 at ¶14; R. Exc. Tab 3.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court abused its discretion in denying the Medical Negligence Defendants' motion to sever and transfer venue.

Severance. Under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 20(a), joinder of defendants in one action is appropriate if both (1) the right to relief asserted against them arises out of the same transaction or occurrence or series of transactions or occurrences, and (2) a question of law or fact common to all defendants exists. The first prong has been interpreted to require a distinct litigable event linking all defendants joined under the rule. That requirement is not satisfied here. Plaintiffs' claims against the Medical Negligence Defendants are based on events that transpired before Kaddarius's death and that concern the medical treatment he received at the Sunshine Medical Clinic in Canton, Mississippi, on three occasions. By contrast, Plaintiffs' claims against the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants concern those Defendants' performance of a post-mortem examination and toxicological tests on Kaddarius's body and their storing and handling of blood and urine specimens,

all of which happened in Pearl, Flowood, and Brandon, Mississippi, and in Texas. In addition, a finding of liability concerning one set of Defendants has no bearing on the liability of the other set. What's more, Plaintiffs allege multiple wrongdoings, and the evidence and witnesses for each set of claims are vastly different and risk confusing the jury.

Likewise, and for many of the same reasons, the second prong of Rule 20(a) is not satisfied. The claims against each set of Defendants are unique to them, both in the legal questions presented and the factual disputes that must be resolved. Both prongs of Rule 20(a) must be satisfied in order for a motion for severance to be denied. Here, because neither standard is met, the circuit court abused its discretion in denying the Medical Negligence Defendants' request for severance.

Transfer of Venue. The circuit court also abused its discretion in denying the Medical Negligence Defendants' request to transfer venue. Once severed, the claims against the Medical Negligence Defendants should have been transferred to Madison County. Under Mississippi Code Annotated section 11-11-3(3), venue in medical negligence cases is appropriate "only in the county in which the alleged act or omission occurred." All of the alleged misconduct by the Medical Negligence Defendants occurred in Canton, Mississippi, which is in Madison County. Therefore, the claims against them should have been transferred there.

Alternatively, even if joinder of all Defendants in this action was appropriate under Rule 20(a) and severance thus not warranted, the circuit court nevertheless abused its discretion by not transferring venue to Rankin County. Under the Tort Claims Act, the Mississippi Crime Laboratory and Mississippi State Medical Examiner's Office are considered the State, and Dr. Steven Hayne is considered a State employee. Under Mississippi Code Annotated section 11-46-13(2), in cases where the State or its employees are sued under the Act, venue lies only in the county where the events allegedly giving rise to liability against the State and its employees took place. Because the

record demonstrates that all such events occurred in Rankin County, the action should have been transferred there.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the disposition of a motion to sever and transfer venue for an abuse of discretion. *Wyeth Labs. v. James*, 918 So. 2d 1243, 1245 (Miss. 2005).

II. The Circuit Court Abused Its Discretion in Denying the Medical Negligence Defendants' Motion to Sever and Transfer Venue

A. Severance Was Warranted Because Joinder of the Medical Negligence Defendants with the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants Is Improper under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 20(a).

Under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 20(a), "[a]ll persons may be joined in one action as defendants if there is asserted against them jointly, severally, or in the alternative, any right to relief in respect of or arising out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences, and if any question of law or fact common to all defendants will arise in the action." A motion for severance cannot be denied unless both of these prongs are established. *Hegwood v. Williamson*, 949 So. 2d 728, 730 (Miss. 2007). Because neither prong is satisfied, the circuit court's denial of the Medical Negligence Defendants' request to sever was an abuse of discretion.

1. The "same transaction or occurrence" prong is not satisfied

The "same transaction or occurrence" contemplated by the first prong requires there be a "distinct litigable event linking the parties." *Miss. Farm Bureau Fed 'n v. Roberts*, 927 So. 2d 739, 741 (Miss. 2006) (quoting *Wyeth-Ayerst Labs. v. Caldwell*, 905 So. 2d 1205, 1207–08 (Miss. 2005)); *accord* Miss. R. Civ. P. 20, cmt. To determine whether such an event exists, a court should consider,

among other things,

whether a finding of liability for one plaintiff essentially establishes a finding for all plaintiffs, indicating that proof common to all plaintiffs is significant. The appropriateness of joinder decreases as the need for additional proof increases. If plaintiffs allege a single, primary wrongful act, the proof will be common to all plaintiffs; however separate proof will be required where there are several wrongful acts by several different actors. The need for separate proof is lessened only where the different wrongful acts are similar in type and character, and occur close in time and/or place.

Hegwood, 949 So. 2d at 730–31 (quoting *Ill. Cent. R.R. v. Gregory*, 912 So. 2d 829, 834–35 (Miss. 2009)). Whether the proof would be confusing to the jury due to the multiplicity of facts is another important factor a court should consider. *Id.* at 731.

No distinct litigable event links the Medical Negligence Defendants with the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants. First, even a cursory comparison of the events on which Plaintiffs' claims against the two sets of Defendants are based reveals no commonality. Plaintiffs' claims against the Medical Negligence Defendants concern those Defendants' medical care and treatment of Kaddarius's respiratory problems on three occasions in Canton, Mississippi. By contrast, their claims against the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants concern those Defendants' post-mortem performance of examinations and toxicological tests on, and storing and handling of specimens from, Kaddarius's body in Pearl, Flowood, and Brandon, Mississippi, as well as in Texas.

Plaintiffs may argue here as they did to the circuit court that Kaddarius's death is a distinct litigable event linking the two sets of Defendants, and that but for his death, there would be no claims against either set. But this Court rejected similar reasoning in *Hegwood*. There, the plaintiff had been in an automobile accident. *Id.* at 729. She and the other driver were both insured by State Farm. *Id.* at 730. The plaintiff sued the other motorist for negligence in regard to the accident, and also sued State Farm for first-party breach of contract and bad faith in handling claims she had made

on both her and the other motorist's policies. *Id.* The defendant-motorist moved to sever the plaintiff's claims against her from those against State Farm, but the circuit court denied that motion without explanation. *Id.* On interlocutory appeal, this Court reversed, holding that the circuit court abused its discretion in denying the motion for severance. *Id.* at 732. In concluding there was no distinct litigable event linking the parties, the Court observed that the claims against the two defendants arose out of separate allegations of misconduct that occurred at separate times. *Id.* Importantly, the Court reasoned that although "the genesis of both claims arose out of the accident, the two claims involve different factual issues and different legal issues." *Id.* at 731. The Court then discussed how the two claims were dissimilar: The negligence claim against the other motorist presented the legal questions of the elements of negligence and raised fact issues about how the accident happened. By contrast, the breach of contract and bad faith claims against State Farm concerned legal questions of policy interpretation and bad faith and involved fact issues of how the plaintiff's policy claims were handled by two adjusters. *Id.* In addition, the Court found it important that the negligence and bad faith claims would be proven by two different sets of witnesses. *Id.*

Hegwood thus forecloses Plaintiffs' argument that because Kaddarius's death is the genesis of the claims against both sets of Defendants, it is a distinct litigable event linking them. Like the claims against the two defendants in Hegwood, the claims against the two sets of Defendants here arise from separate allegations of wrongdoing occurring at separate times. The claims against the Medical Negligence Defendants are based on Kaddarius's visits to the Sunshine Medical Clinic on three occasions—October 15 and December 17, 2005, and May 8, 2006—and the treatment of his respiratory problems he allegedly did or did not receive. (R. 14 at ¶16–18; R. Exc. Tab 3.) In contrast, the claims against the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants are based on alleged misconduct that occurred after Kaddarius's death, during their performance of the post-mortem examination,

conducting of toxicological tests, and storing and handling of blood and urine specimens. (R. 14 at \$\\$20; 15 at \$\\$\\$21-22, 24-26; R. Exc. Tab 3.)

In addition, both here and in *Hegwood* the claims against the two sets of Defendants involve different legal and factual issues. The medical negligence and negligent hiring and supervision claims against the Medical Negligence Defendants concern legal issues of the elements of negligence and present fact questions about the symptoms Kaddarius had, the diagnostic measures used and the type and manner of treatment rendered to him, and the Clinic's supervision of Dr. Vig and nurse practitioner Hoehn. Conversely, the tort claims against the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants concern legal matters of reckless disregard for the rights and safety of Plaintiffs and causation of Ms. Douglas's wrongful incarceration; those claims raise factual issues about the performance and evaluation of the post-mortem examination and toxicological tests, as well as the storing, handling, and transmission of blood and urine specimens.

Moreover, as in *Hegwood*, the witnesses for each set of claims would be quite different. For the claims against the Medical Negligence Defendants, the witnesses would be persons with personal knowledge of Kaddarius's three visits to Sunshine Medical Clinic (*i.e.*, doctors, nurses, and other medical personnel), and perhaps with expert opinions concerning the treatment he received there. The witnesses for the claims against the Wrongful Incarceration Defendants, by contrast, would be persons with personal knowledge of the post-mortem examination, toxicological tests, and specimens, and their relationship, if any, to Ms. Douglas's incarceration—*e.g.*, law enforcement officials, prosecutors, employees of all of the entity Wrongful Death Defendants—and experts on the proper manner of conducting such tests and storing and handling such specimens. Under *Hegwood*, then, Kaddarius's death is not a distinct litigable event linking the two sets of Defendants and severance is necessary.

Second, a finding of liability against either set of Defendants will not be dispositive of liability against the other set. Whether the care and treatment rendered by the Medical Negligence Defendants deviated from the applicable standard of care and caused Kaddarius's death has no bearing on whether the Wrongful Death Defendants' actions in performing the post-mortem examination and toxicological tests and handling and storing the specimens caused Ms. Douglas's wrongful incarceration, and vice versa. The same is true concerning the propriety of punitive damages against each set of Defendants. Given the different types of claims against the two sets of Defendants and the underlying multiple instances of alleged wrongdoing, there will be little, if any, proof common to the claims. Moreover, the wrongs allegedly committed by the two sets of defendants are not similar in type and character, and did not occur close in time or place. For these reasons, too, there is no distinct litigable event linking the two sets of Defendants.

Third, the numerous facts unique to Plaintiffs' disparate claims against the two sets of Defendants would be confusing to a jury. Because of the dissimilar sets of claims and the different evidence and witnesses specific to each set, the danger of jury confusion is great. This factor also counsels in favor of severance. *Hegwood*, 949 So. 2d at 731; *Caldwell*, 905 So. 2d at 1209.

2. The "common question of law or fact" prong is not satisfied

For joinder to be appropriate under Rule 20(a), there must also be a question of law or fact common to all Defendants. As the preceding discussion demonstrates, there is none. The claims against each set of Defendants are unique to them, both in the legal questions presented and the factual disputes that must be resolved. Because this prong is not satisfied, joinder of the two sets of Defendants in the same action is improper and severance is warranted.

B. Once Severed, the Claims Against the Medical Negligence Defendants Must Be Transferred to Madison County. Under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 11-11-3(3), that County Is the Only Proper Venue Because It Is Where Their Alleged Acts or Omissions

Occurred.

Should this Court agree that the circuit court abused its discretion in denying the Medical Negligence Defendants' request for severance, then it was also an abuse of discretion for the circuit court to deny their request for transfer of venue.

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