IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI CRIME LABORATORY; MISSISSIPPI STATE MEDICAL EXAMINERS; EXPERTOX INC. ANALYTICAL LABORATORY; MEDSCREENS, INC.; SUNSHINE MEDICAL CLINIC; DR. STEVEN HAYNE, IN HIS OFFICIAL AND PERSONAL CAPACITIES; DR. VIBHA VIG, IN HER OFFICIAL AND PERSONAL CAPACITIES; LISA HOEHN, IN HER OFFICIAL AND PERSONAL CAPACITIES

v.

ſ

1

L

f

2010-IA-00776-SCT

DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Defendants/Appellants' motion to sever and transfer venue. The First Judicial District of the Hinds County Circuit Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter hereto, and all defendants and causes of action are properly joined into this suit, as the incidents complained of arose out of the same transaction, occurrence or series of occurrences. This case centers around one distinct litigable event; the death of Kaddarius Douglas. All claims for relief arise out of the same occurrence; the death of Kaddarius Douglas. All or portions of the Defendants' negligent acts and/or omissions occurred in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. Venue for this matter is proper in Hinds County, Mississippi.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. Standard of Review

The Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals applies a deferential standard in the review of joinder and venue determinations, and will not reverse unless it is found that the trial court abused its discretion. *Please See Creel v. Bridgestone/Firestone North American Tire*, LLC, 950 So.2d 1024, 1027 (Miss. 2007) (quoting *Miss. Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Roberts*, 927 So.2d 739, 741 (Miss.2006). Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 20 gives trial courts broad discretion in determining when and how to try claims. *Please See Wyeth-Ayerst Laboratories v. Caldwell*, 905 So.2d 1205, 1207 (Miss.2005) and *Mississippi Farm Bureau Federation v. Roberts*, 927 So.2d 739, 741 (Miss.2006).

II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Denying Defendants/Appellants' Motion to Sever and Transfer Venue

For the reasons set forth herein, this cause of action is properly before the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, the Hinds County Circuit Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter hereto, and all defendants and causes of action are properly joined into this suit. The incidents complained of arose out of the same transaction, occurrence or series of occurrences and a question of law or fact common to all Defendants exists. All or portions of the Defendants' negligent acts and/or omissions occurred in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. Defendants/Appellants' arguments are three-fold; that the two prongs of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 20(a) are not satisfied and that once severed, the 'medical malpractice claims' belong in Madison County, Mississippi and the 'wrongful incarceration claims' belong in Rankin County, Mississippi.

A. Severance

i. Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 20(a)

Rule 20(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states:

All persons may join in one action as plaintiffs if they assert any right to relief jointly, severally, or in the alternative in respect of or arising out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences, and if any question of law or fact common to all these persons will arise in the action. All persons may be joined in one action as defendants if there is asserted against them jointly, severally, or in the alternative, any right to relief in respect of or arising out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences, and if any question of law or fact common to all defendants will arise in the action. A plaintiff or defendant need not be interested in obtaining or defending against all the relief demanded. Judgment may be given for one or more of the plaintiffs according to their respective rights to relief, and against one or more defendants according to their respective liabilities.

Miss.R.Civ.P. 20(a).

The comment to Rule 20 states, in pertinent part, "the purpose of Rule 20 is to promote trial convenience and expedite the final determination of disputes, thereby preventing multiple law suits. The rule is permissive in character." *Comment to* Miss.R.Civ.P. 20. The comment to Rule 20 continues, "Rule 20(a) permits joinder in a single action of all persons asserting or defending against a joint, several, or alternative right to relief that arises out of the same transaction or occurrence or series of transactions or occurrences and presents a common question of law or fact. The phrase 'transaction or occurrence' requires that there be a distinct litigable event linking the parties. Rule 20(a) simply establishes a procedure under which several parties' demands arising out of the same litigable event may be tried together, thereby avoiding the unnecessary loss of time and money to the court and the parties that the duplicate

presentation of the evidence relating to facts common to more than one demand for relief would entail.

ii. Plaintiffs' right to relief against all Defendants arises out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences

This case centers around one distinct litigable event; the death of Kaddarius Douglas. All claims for relief arise out of the same occurrence; the death of Kaddarius Douglas. Kaddarius Douglas' death and the facts surrounding his death give equal rise to both the medical malpractice claims and the wrongful incarceration claims of the Plaintiffs. But for the death of Kaddarius Douglas, there would be no causes of action for any Plaintiff, against any Defendant. The trial court had full severance authority under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 42(b) if it appeared upon the court's review that some or all of the legal or factual issues may make the case cumbersome and confusing for the jury. Importantly, these matters can be handled judiciously by proper instructions to the fact finder. *Please See Vogel v. American Warranty Home Service Corp.*, 695 F.2d 877, 882 (5th Cir.1983) and *Towner v. Moore ex rel. Quitman County School Dist.*, 604 So.2d 1093, 1097 (Miss. 1992).

It is critical to note that Defendants/Appellants do not identify any potential prejudice as where evidence admissible only on a certain issue may prejudice them in the minds of the jury on other issues. The *Hegwood* case² (heavily relied upon by the Defendants/Appellants) turned on this very issue. The Court found that the Appellant would be prejudiced if the jury learned of her insurance coverage while it was deciding liability and damages. Defendants fail to set forth any potential prejudice to them by the presentation of any issue of law or fact that would be set forth during trial.

² Hegwood v. Williams, 949 So.2d 728 (Miss. 2007).

As is required by law in order for the issues to be properly raised in their appeal, all of the Defendants/Appellees' appeal issues were considered by the trial court. The trial court considered whether or not the death of Kaddarius Douglas was the distinct litigable event required to meet the prongs of Rule 20(a), whether there was a risk of jury confusion, whether different legal and factual issues exist, the impact of witness testimony, and whether or not a finding of liability against any defendant would be dispositive against any other. After careful consideration, the trial court properly determined that these issues could properly be addressed at the trial of this matter with appropriate curative and limiting instructions, should one take place.

iii. A question of law or fact common to all the parties will arise in this action

As shown in the above reasoning, questions of law or fact common to all the parties will arise in this action. Evidence, testimony and proof regarding the death of Kaddarius Douglas must be set forth, regardless of whether Plaintiffs/Appellants' claims are heard in one lawsuit or ten. The claims asserted against each Defendant/Appellant flow directly from Kaddarius' death. Without his death, there would be no claims against any Defendant/Appellant, either for the malpractice/negligence claims or the negligent and/or intentional acts relating to the wrongful incarceration claims.

The trial court understood and appreciated that judicial economy is best served by joining Plaintiffs/Appellees' claims in a single action. Duplicating every pleading, correspondence, element of discovery, pre-trial motion and trial aspect would be costly, time-consuming and unnecessarily burdensome to all parties involved. The purpose and intent of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure are best served by denying Defendants/Appellants' Motion to Sever.

B. Venue

i. Negligence occurred in Hinds County, Mississippi, thus Venue is proper

Mississippi Code Annotated, Section 11-46-13(2) states, in relevant part:

"The venue for any suit filed under the provisions of this chapter against the state or its employees shall be in the county in which the act, omission or event on which the liability phase of the action is based, occurred or took place. The venue for all other suits filed under the provisions of this chapter shall be in the county or judicial district thereof in which the principal offices of the governing body of the political subdivision are located."

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-13(2)

Negligent acts and/or omissions giving rise to this suit occurred in the First Judicial District of Hinds County. The Crime Lab and the State Medical Examiners negligently failed to make certain that proper testing procedures were put in place and were being utilized at the time of the autopsy of Kaddarius Douglas, that protocol regarding the performance of autopsies and fluid sample testing was being followed by Dr. Hayne, Expertox and Medscreens, and that Dr. Hayne, Expertox and Medscreens were properly qualified and adequately trained to perform the services rendered. The Crime Lab and the State Medical Examiners negligently breached their duty to oversee the performance of Kaddarius Douglas' autopsy and the testing of fluid samples from his body, which proximately caused the damages sustained by the Plaintiffs.

Additionally, under Sections 41-61-63 and 41-61-65 the Defendants/Appellants are required to perform certain duties regarding the performance of autopsies. Plaintiffs/Appellees contend that the evidence will show that the Defendants/Appellants were negligent in the following particulars (as it relates to the autopsy and fluid sampling of the body of Kaddarius Douglas), including but not limited to:

- (a) failing to provided adequate assistance, consultation and/or training to any and all county medical examiners, county medical examiner investigators and/or law enforcement officials involved in the examination of Kaddarius Douglas' body;
- (b) failing to keep complete records of all relevant information concerning Kaddarius Douglas' death or crimes requiring investigation by the medical examiners regarding his death;
- (c) failing to cooperate with the crime detection and medical examiner laboratories authorized by Section 45-1-17, the University of Mississippi Medical Center, the Attorney General, law enforcement agencies, the courts and the State of Mississippi regarding Kaddarius Douglas' death;
- (d) upon receipt of notification of Kaddarius Douglas' death failing to make inquiries regarding the cause and manner of death, reduced their findings to writing and promptly make a full report to the State Medical Examiner on forms prescribed for that purpose;
- (e) failing to maintain any and all records copied as confidential failing to complete the medical examiner's portion of the certificate of death within seventy-two (72) hours of assuming jurisdiction over Kaddarius Douglas' death;
- (f) failing to forward the certificate to the funeral director or to the family;
 failing to perform a death investigation in accordance with the child death
 investigation protocol established by the State Medical Examiner;

- (g) failing to report the results of the death investigation to the State Medical Examiner on forms prescribed for that purpose by the State Medical Examiner and to appropriate authorities (including police and child protective services) within three (3) days of the conclusion of the death investigation;
- (h) failing to promptly submit a complete autopsy report of findings and interpretations (prepared on forms designated for this purpose) to the State Medical Examiner;
- (i) failing to furnish copies of the complete autopsy report to the authorizing medical examiner, district attorney and court clerk;
- (j) failing to furnish a copy of the report to one (1) adult member of the immediate family of the deceased or the legal representative or legal guardian of members of the immediate family of the deceased upon request; and
- (k) failing to authorize an investigation and send a report of the investigation with recommendations to the appropriate district attorney after sufficient cause had clearly developed for further investigation after Kaddarius Douglas' body had been buried.

It is undisputed that the principal offices of the governing body of the Mississippi Crime Lab and the Mississippi State Medical Examiners are located in Hinds County, Mississippi. From these offices, Hinds County contracts with, employs, evaluates supervises, administers and oversees the several duties being performed by Dr. Hayne, Medscreens, Inc. and Expertox Inc. Analytical Laboratory. The State Crime Lab and the

State Medical Examiners are not permitted to dodge their oversight responsibility and hide behind a quasi sub-contract when something goes wrong. Defendants/Appellants have not provided this Court with any authority that would relieve them of their duties under Miss. Code Ann. § 41-61-63 or § 41-61-65.

Factual inquiries, discovery and litigation must proceed on these issues, in order to do justice and determine whether statutory requirements were met. Defendants-Appellants filed their Petition for Interlocutory Appeal prior to complying with the discovery requests propounded by the Plaintiffs-Appellees. Written discovery remains outstanding, no documents have been produced and deposition subpoenas have not been complied with. Plaintiffs-Appellees contend that once discovery is completed, evidence will show that additional negligent acts and/or omissions occurred in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. The well-established *Blackledge* rule applies here; "In suits involving multiple defendants, where venue is good as to one defendant, it is good as to all defendants." *Blackledge v. Scott*, 530 So.2d 1363, 1365 (Miss.1988) (*citing Jefferson v. Magee*, 205 So.2d 281 (Miss.1967)) (*See also Jeffreys v. Clark*, 251 Miss. 129, 141-42, 168 So.2d 662, 666-68 (1964), *overruled on other grounds by Sheffield v. Sheffield*, 405 So.2d 1314, 1318 (Miss.1981)).

II. Conclusion

For the reasons contained set forth, this cause of action is properly before the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, the Hinds County Circuit Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter hereto, and all defendants and causes of action are properly joined into this suit, as the incidents complained of arose out of the same transaction, occurrence or series of occurrences.

This case centers around one distinct litigable event; the death of Kaddarius Douglas. All claims for relief arise out of the same occurrence; the death of Kaddarius Douglas. The purpose of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 20 is to promote trial convenience and expedite the final determination of disputes, thereby preventing multiple law suits. To sever this case is to create multiple lawsuits in multiple courts, thereby doubling and potentially tripling the time, efforts, legal fees and costs of litigation. Negligent acts and/or omissions of the Crime Lab and the State Medical Examiners giving rise to this suit occurred in the First Judicial District of Hinds County. Therefore, venue for this matter is proper in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. For these reasons, the trial court's decision to deny Defendants/Appellants' Motion to Sever and Transfer Venue, should be affirmed by this Court.